1957

Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Commission and the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is taken from the order of the District Court for Salt Lake County, sustaining the Motion to Dismiss filed by the State Tax Commission, on the ground that the complaint does not contain sufficient facts to constitute a basis for relief as prayed. There was no formal appearance by the State of Utah, but the matter is presented to this court as though the State of Utah had also filed the Motion to dismiss, and the State of Utah is designated as Respondent herein. No

question of parties has been raised and it will not be considered material unless raised by this court.

The complaint alleges, in effect, that a Trustee held title to certain motor vehicle equipment in the State of Utah for the purpose of leasing it to two corporations, Orange Transportation Company, an Idaho corporation, and Collett Tank Lines, a Utah corporation. These two corporations went out of business by selling all of their capital stock to the plaintiff and as part of the transaction the Trustee sold the motor vehicle equipment to the plaintiff. This equipment consisted of trucks and tractors, and included also semi-trailers. The State Tax Commission refused to register any of this equipment until the sales tax was paid by the plaintiff, which was the purchaser. The plaintiff, therefore, paid under protest on the 15th day of January, 1957, assessed tax in the amount of \$8,174.83 which was the combined tax on the sale price of the motor vehicle tractors, the motor vehicle trucks and the semi-trailers which are used in connection with tractors. The item of \$8,174.83 is not broken down as to the various classes of equipment sold.

The complaint alleges that the sellers of the equipment were not engaged in the business of selling property to users or consumers and that it was not an isolated or occasional sale by a retailer as defined in Section 59-15-2 (E) U.C.A. 1953, and alleges that none of the sellers was engaged in a regularly organized retail business within the meaning of that section.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The Utah Sales Tax Act is not applicable to sales by persons other than retailers, as defined in the Statute.

2. Semi-trailers, as used by a motor carrier of property are not taxable under the Sales Tax Act when sold in occasional or isolated transactions.

3. Amendment of the definition and collection sections of the Sales Tax Act does not alter the scope of the tax.

4. An interpretation of the Statute singling out motor vehicles for taxation when sold in isolated or occasional transactions would be unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

1. *The Utah Sales Tax Act is not applicable to sales by persons other than retailers, as defined in the Statute.*

Section 59-14-4 U.C.A. is the section of the Utah Code which levies what is referred to as the Sales Tax. This section reads:

“there is levied . . . (a) A tax upon every retail sale of tangible personal property made within the State of Utah . . .”

The definition section of Chapter 15 (59-15-2) defines “retail sale” as “every sale within the State of Utah by a retailer . . . to a user or consumer.” A “retailer” is defined as “a person doing regularly organized retail business in tangible personal property, known to the public as such and selling to the user or consumer and not for resale.” Under no stretch of the imagination does the term “retailer” include one engaging in a transaction of the nature here involved, that is, the sale of rolling stock by one carrier to another as part of the sale of the business. The definitional section referred to says,

"that no sale of a motor vehicle shall be deemed isolated or occasional for the purposes of this act." The effect of this language is to treat the sales of motor vehicles as "usual" or "regular" instead of "isolated" or "occasional." Then, assuming that the sales of motor vehicles are usual, or regular, does that make the seller in this case a "retailer"? ("Retail sale' means every sale . . . by a retailer.") By no means does this follow. The seller in this case was not "doing a regularly organized retail business" of selling trucks, or of selling any other commodity. The seller was not "known to the public as such." It follows that no "retail sale" was involved in the purchase of trucks by the appellant in this case, and Section 59-15-4 U.C.A. levies a tax "upon every retail sale." Therefore, the act of the respondent was unauthorized in compelling payment of a tax by the appellant. Even if the legislative intent could be clearly shown, and it cannot, it shouldn't be used to go against plain terms of the statute to reach transactions upon which no tax is levied.

To be sure, there is some question or doubt as to the purpose of the words in the definitional Section of 59-15-2 referring to isolated or occasional sales of motor vehicles, but the clear import of the language in the section levying a tax (59-15-4) and the correlative definitional Section (59-15-2) is not to include taxes such as that to the appellant. The United States Supreme Court in the Gould case stated a rule which has become almost axiomatic:

"In the interpretation of statutes levying taxes it is the established rule not to extend their provisions by implication, beyond the clear import of the language used, or to enlarge their operation so as to embrace

matters not specifically pointed out. In case of doubt they are construed most strongly against the government and in favor of the citizen."

(Gould v. Gould, 245 U. S. 151, 62 L. Ed. 211, 38 S. Ct. 53; see generally, 3 Sutherland Statutory Construction 293 and cases there cited.)

Even if it be said that the clear intention of the legislature is to raise revenue by taxing the sale of motor vehicles, effect of the language used, as we have seen, is to tax only retail sales and the courts should not adopt a strained construction in order to put into effect what may be said, by the collectors of the tax, to be the intention of the legislature. Crawford in his text, *Statutory Construction*, points up this rule of Construction as it applies to sales taxes in these words:

"Naturally, those laws which impose a tax on sales, being tax laws, are subject to a strict construction in accord with tax statutes generally. In other words, a sales tax statute must be strictly construed in considering its coverage, and no strained construction may be indulged in against the taxpayer simply because of the apparent purpose to raise needed revenue . . . " (p. 738).

In Tennessee a case arose which is analgous in many ways to the case at bar. Both cases involve statutory construction of a statute which though containing certain terms which might include the taxpayer, has controlling language which clearly does not include the taxpayer. In the Tennessee case (*State v. McLemore*, 290 S.W. 386), the State sought to hold that certain compulsory insurance was applicable to the automobile of the taxpayer who operated the automobile for hire, using a fixed stand, charging fares proportional to the haul

and the number of passengers in each case, but not operating between fixed termini or over a regular route. The court said:

"The caption is broad, covering all 'motor vehicles . . . for hire, 'and the word 'taxicab' is given a definition practically as broad, and it may be plausibly contended that the protection sought to be provided might fairly be so extended, but the language of section 2 is definitely limited. 'It shall be unlawful for any person . . . to operate any motor vehicle . . . for hire, between fixed termini, without executing bond or providing insurance,' etc. This is the controlling language of the act. The broad terms of the caption and the references to taxicabs, contained in the body of the act, fairly suggest a possible original purpose to enact legislation which would apply to all motor vehicles driven for hire, whether strictly taxicabs or not (except when coming under a municipal ordinance having similar requirements); but the manifest ambiguity and confusion in the frame and language of the act as it now appears indicates restrictive changes in-artificially made before final passage.

"However this may be, we find the language of the act heretofore quoted declaring 'what shall be unlawful' reasonably clear (emphasis added.) While in arriving at the intent, which is always important, the apparent general purpose of legislation may be considered, 'it is also a settled rule of interpretation in this state,' as said by Mr. Justice Lansden in *Plow Co. v. Hays*, 125 Tenn. 155, 140 S.W. 1069, 'that statutes levying taxes or duties upon citizens will not be extended by implication beyond the clear import of the language used, nor will their operation be enlarged so as to embrace matters not specifically pointed out, although standing upon close analogy . . . Burdens are not to be imposed beyond what the statute expressly imports.' "

In the case just cited, words were used by the legislature

which indicated a certain intent, but which the court found negated by express and controlling language. In the case at bar, too, there is an indication of a possible legislative intent regarding motor vehicles, which we have seen, however, is negated by the express and controlling language taxing retail sales by retailers, which language does not include the appellants.

An analysis of the definition section from a grammatical point of view may be helpful. Section 59-15-4 imposes an excise tax "upon every retail sale of tangible personal property." Then Section 59-15-2(e) defines the term "retailer" as a person conducting "a regularly organized retail business in tangible personal property." Then the latter half of that subsection defines the term "retail sale." This definition is analyzed as follows:

RETAIL SALE:

I. Sale by retailer or wholesaler to user or consumer.

- (a) Wholesale sales excluded
- (b) Exempted sales excluded
- (c) Isolated or occasional sales (by persons not regularly engaged in business) excluded
- (d) Seasonal sales and agricultural sales excluded
 - (1) Provided no sale of motor vehicle is isolated or occasional.

The last clause of subsection 59-15-2(2) states: "but the term 'retail sale' is not intended to include isolated nor occasional sales by persons not regularly engaged in business . . .

provided, however, that no sale of a motor vehicle shall be deemed isolated or occasional for the purposes of this act.” This clause is separated from the clause defining retail sale by a semicolon.

It is submitted that this clause excluding “isolated or occasional sales *by persons not regularly engaged in business*” from the definition of “retail sale” is merely a reiteration (in the negative) of the first clause of this subsection which states, “the term ‘retailer’ means a person *doing a regularly organized retail business . . .*” The sellers here were not in the business of selling to the user or consumer and their isolated or occasional sales were therefore excluded both generally and specifically.

The proviso part of the last clause of subsection 59-15-2(e), “sale of a motor vehicle shall not be deemed isolated or occasional,” was obviously meant to limit only the sales excluded from the term “retail sale.” This is obvious from a grammatical standpoint in that this part is separated from the last clause by a comma, while the exclusionary clause is separated from the definition of a retail sale by a semicolon. This interpretation is obvious from a sense, or meaning standpoint, in that the clause speaks of isolated or occasional sales, and the proviso shows what shall not be deemed isolated or occasional.

Thus, while upon first reading it might appear that any sale of a motor vehicle is a retail sale subject to a sales tax, it can be seen upon analyzing the subsection, both from a grammatical and a meaning standpoint, that there must be a sale

by a person doing a regularly organized business of selling to the user or consumer in order to constitute a "retail sale."

It is clear that the sale of a motor vehicle cannot be deemed isolated or occasional. But the fact that a sale is not isolated or occasional does not make it subject to the sales tax imposed by Section 59-15-4. There still must be a sale by a retailer to a user or consumer.

The meaning of the phrase "isolated or occasional sales" when applied to persons who are regularly engaged in business must be that sales by such persons are covered even though they involve commodities not regularly dealt in. For example, if a regular retailer of dry goods gets a special deal on electrical appliances and sells that one shipment out, it would be in the nature of isolated or occasional sales, but would still be covered. Or, if a sporting goods house orders a large inboard motor boat on special purchase, that would be an isolated or occasional sale, but would still be covered, because it is within the volume of business done by a regularly organized retailer. If such a retailer sold his fixtures and bought new fixtures for his store, it would appear to be an occasional sale, but would still be covered. And, likewise, if a grocery store which makes deliveries sells its delivery truck, that would appear to be an isolated or occasional sale and would be subject to the act. And the definition states, specifically, that no sale of a motor vehicle shall be considered an isolated or occasional sale, without looking any further into the comparison of that transaction with other regular transactions of the person making the sale. But there still is no modification of the application of the act to retailers only, and to retail sales only, and the sale here involved was not by a retailer and was not a retail sale.

For courts consciously or unconsciously to ignore the wording of a statute in order to put into effect what they conceive to be the legislative intent, at times might prove a service to the legislature and the community from a nearsighted point of view. But in the long run a grave disservice would be perpetrated on the judicial and the legislative systems, and thus to the community. Legislative enactments could easily become a mockery were courts to infer anything they might conceive of as the intention of the legislature, irrespective of the wording of the enactment.

“Where there is reasonable doubt as to the meaning of a revenue statute it should be resolved in favor of those taxed.” 3 Sutherland Statutory Construction 293. Cases: *Gould v. Gould*, 245 U. S. 151, 62 L. Ed. 211, 38 S. Ct. 53 (1915); *Stephens v. Glander*, 151 Ohio St. 62, 84 N. E. 2d 279 (1949); *Compana Corp. v. Cmr.* 210 F 2d 897 (1954); *Allen v. Atlanta Metallic Casket Co.*, 197 F 2d 460 (1952); *Masonite Corp. v. Fly*, 194 F 2d 257 (1952); *Peck v. State*, 216 P 2d 132 (1950); *Walgreen Co. v. Gross Inc. Tax Div.*, 75 N. E. 2d 784 (1947); *Langford v. Aten*, 39 N. W. 2d 82 (1949); *Salomon v. Jersey City*, 97 A 2d 405 (1953); *School Dist. of Philadelphia v. Frankford Grocery Co.*, 103 A 2d 738 (1954); *Bott v. Commonwealth*, 48 S. E. 2d 235 (1948).

Revzan v. Nudelman, 18 N. E. 2d. 219 (Illinois): This case involved a sales tax law and was decided in favor of the taxpayer by subjecting the words “use” and “consumption” to their restrictive meaning of “use up” or “exhaust.” The court said:

“In the first place, it must be remembered that the act imposes a tax only upon persons engaged in the business of selling at retail. No other class is included

in its provisions, either expressly or by necessary implications. Defendants insist that the sole leather and rubber heels sold by plaintiffs to repairmen are retail sales, on the theory that such materials are used or consumed by the repairman. This brings us to a consideration of the meaning of the terms: 'for use or consumption.' In construing a statute, 'it is fundamental that taxing laws must be strictly construed. They are not to be extended by implication beyond the clear import of the language used. In case of doubt, they are construed most strongly against the government and in favor of the taxpayer. Strict construction does not require that the words be given the narrowest meaning of which they are susceptible, and words of the act are to be given their full meaning.'"

Bedford v. Johnson, 78 P. 2d, 373 (Colo.):

"This court has repeatedly held that statutes levying taxes or duties upon citizens will not be extended by implication beyond the clear import of the language used, nor will their operation be enlarged so as to embrace matters not specifically pointed out, although standing upon a close analogy, and all questions of doubt will be resolved against the government and in favor of the citizen, and because burdens are not to be imposed beyond what the statute expressly imports."

This case was one where the court refused to regard automobile parking lots as falling within the scope of a statute which imposed a tax on general warehouse storage establishments.

Doran v. Crenshaw (Tenn.) 61 S. W. 2d, 469: Held that the tax under the heading of "Florists," imposing a tax upon each person dealing in cut flowers or potted plants, conducting the business of a florist from a regular place of business, and

each person selling cut flowers, shrubs, or potted plants on the streets or at other places outside a regular store, did not include a horticulturist engaged in the operation of a nursery and greenhouse on his land at 1732 Felix Avenue where he grows from the soil various kinds of flowering and perennial plants and shrubs, which he sells to dealers and the public generally: "This language so limited cannot be extended by implication to embrace a producer of plants and flowers. To do so would be to reach beyond the clear import of the language used . . . "

It is to be concluded from the foregoing that the respondent unlawfully imposed a tax on the appellants with respect to the purchaser of the motor vehicles and trailers here involved. The sellers were not retailers and this was not a retail sale.

2. Semi-trailers, as used by a motor carrier, are not taxable under the Sales Tax Act when sold in occasional or isolated transactions.

Should the court find isolated or occasional sales of motor vehicles taxable under the Sales Tax Act, such a finding should not include semi-trailers.

Motor vehicles as referred to under the Sales Tax Act in Sections 59-15-2 and 59-15-5, U.C.A., are nowhere defined under the Act. He who would interpret the meaning of "motor vehicle" is left to interpret by analogy or common understanding. Interpretation by analogy has strong support from the wording of the statute. Section 59-15-5 refers to "every sale of a motor vehicle subject to registration and licensing under the laws of this state." Reference to registration and licensing

would logically refer one to the Motor Vehicle Act for a definition of the term "motor vehicle." Section 41-1-1, U.C.A. defines "motor vehicle" as:

"Every vehicle which is self-propelled and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires, but not operated upon rails."

A semi-trailer is certainly not included within this definition of "motor vehicle." A semi-trailer is not self-propelled. Moreover, "semi-trailer" is defined in the same section as:

"Every vehicle without active power designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and so constructed that some part of its weight and that of its load rests or is carried by another vehicle."

It is evident that the terms "motor vehicle" and semi-trailer" are mutually exclusive, as defined in Section 41-1-1. The term which the legislature, had it so desired, could have used to include both a motor vehicle and a semi-trailer would have been "vehicle," which is defined as:

"Every device in, upon, or by which any person or property is or may be transported or drawn upon a highway, excepting devices moved by human power or used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks."

However, the legislature did not choose to use the term "vehicle." It would seem clear from this analysis that the legislature did not intend to include semi-trailers in "motor vehicles."

If the above analysis is not sufficient, recourse must be had to the common understanding of the meaning of motor vehicle, for the words employed in a tax statute "are to be

given their ordinary meaning.” (51 Am. Jur. 362 and cases cited.)

Unquestionably, the ordinary meaning of motor vehicle would be a vehicle with a motor. A semi-trailer certainly does not come under such a category. It neither has a motor to propel it nor is it part of a vehicle with a motor.

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