1957

Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Commission and the State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

reasonable basis. It seems odd that appellant would urge the court to adopt a construction which it admits is unconstitutional, in light of the well recognized and universal rule that where two meanings may fairly be given an act, one rendering it in harmony, and the other in conflict with the constitution, the former must always prevail. *State Water Pollution Board v. Salt Lake City*, ... Ut. 2d ..., 311 P. 2d 370; *Parkinson v. Watson*, 4 Ut. 2d 191, 291 P. 2d 400; *Logan City v. Public Utilities Comm.*, 72 Ut. 536, 271 P. 961; *Norville v. State Tax Commission*, 98 Ut. 170, 97 P. 2d 937; *State v. Packard*, 122 Ut. 369, 250 P. 2d 561.

The final alternative, i. e. that all sales of motor vehicles are subject to the sales tax, is the one which the Tax Commission asserted and the one which the trial court adopted. This interpretation gives effect to all parts of the Sales Tax Act and is in accord with the obvious intention of the legislature (See argument under Point II). No doubts could be raised as to its constitutionality as the act would apply to everyone equally. This interpretation is in full accord with the following statement of this court in the case of *Norville v. State Tax Commission*, 98 Ut. 170, 97 P. 2d 937:

"Moreover, in seeking to give effect to the intent of the legislature the court will adopt that interpretation of a taxing statute which lays the tax burden uniformly on all standing in the same degree with relation to the tax adopted * * * And will avoid an interpretation which would lead to an impractical, unfair, or unreasonable result."

Such interpretation is also supported by the ordinary rules of statutory construction. Sec. 59-15-4, U. C. A. 1953,

imposes a broad and general tax on sales by retailers. However, the legislature did not stop at this point, but more specifically provided that "no sale of a motor vehicle shall be deemed isolated or occasional for the purposes of this act." It is a cardinal rule of statutory construction that specific statutory provisions will prevail over broad general provisions. *Nelden v. Clark*, 20 Ut. 382, 59 P. 524; *University of Utah v. Richards*, 20 Ut. 457, 59 P. 96.

As further support for the trial court's holding that all sales of motor vehicles are subject to the sales tax, we refer to Sec. 59-15-5, U. C. A. 1953, as amended, which deals with the collection of the tax. This section was amended in 1949 by the same act which amended Sec. 59-15-2(e) to exclude motor vehicles from the category of isolated or occasional sales (see Chapter 83, Laws of 1949). Therefore, the two provisions may be considered in *pari materia*. See *Weber v. Pinyan*, (Cal.) 61 P. 2d 954. The 1949 amendment to Sec. 59-15-5 states as follows:

"* * * Provided, however, that on all motor vehicle sales made by other than a regular licensed dealer the tax shall be paid by the purchaser directly to the State Tax Commission upon every sale of a motor vehicle subject to registration and licensing under the laws of this state, and shall be collected by the State Tax Commission at the time of such registration and licensing."

If the tax was not meant to apply to every sale of a motor vehicle there would be no need to require direct payment to the State Tax Commission, as all regular retailers are already collecting agents for the state. When this amendment is considered together with Sec. 59-15-2(e),

U. C. A. 1953, as amended, it appears that the legislature clearly intended that no sale of a motor vehicle, whether made by a retailer or any other person, should be exempt from the sales tax.

POINT II.

SEMI-TRAILERS ARE MOTOR VEHICLES WITHIN THE SALES TAX ACT.

Since the sales tax act provides that "no sale of a motor vehicle shall be deemed isolated or occasional for the purposes of this act" (59-15-2(e) U. C. A. 1953, as amended) it becomes necessary to define the term "motor vehicle." As pointed out by the appellant this term is nowhere defined in the Sales Tax Act. Appellant would have the court apply the definition of motor vehicle as contained in the Motor Vehicle Act of this state. However, this act bears little relationship to the Sales Tax Act and should not be controlling in defining the term as it is there employed. (See *Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 75 S. E. 2d 688, S. C. 1953, where it was held that the definition of motor vehicle in an unrelated statute had no application.)

In interpreting a statute, the primary obligation of the court is to give effect to the intention of the legislature. *Norville v. State Tax Commission*, 98 Ut. 170, 97 P. 2d 937; *West Beverage Co. v. Hansen*, 98 Ut. 332, 96 P. 2d 1105; *Utah Light & Traction Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 92 Ut. 404, 68 P. 2d 759. As stated in the *Norville* case, supra:

"In the exposition of a statute the intention of the lawmaker will prevail over the literal sense of

the terms; and its reason and intention will prevail over the strict letter. When the words are not explicit the intention is to be collected from the context; from the occasion and necessity of the law; from the mischief felt, and the remedy in view; and this intention is to be taken or presumed according to what is consonant with reason and good discretion."

It is the contention of respondent that the obvious legislative intent was to tax vehicles of the type required to be licensed and registered in this state. Such category would include semi-trailers, as 41-1-19, U. C. A. 1953, as amended, specifically requires them to be registered.

When the Utah Legislature decided to create a sales tax, it was necessary to do so in a practical manner. The Legislature, therefore, laid down a general policy of taxing only those sales by regular retailers, and exempted isolated and occasional sales. The reason for this exemption was plainly because of the collection problem. It would be grossly impractical, if not absolutely impossible, to tax isolated and occasional sales by persons not regularly engaged in business; the Tax Commission would have no way of finding out about such sales, nor could there be any economical method of collecting sales tax. The Sales Tax Act, therefore, was primarily made to apply only to sales by retailers from their inventories of goods held for resale. The retailer is made the collector for the Tax Commission, and in this manner the act is efficiently administered.

The same considerations, however, do not apply to sales of vehicles which are subject to the registration laws

of the state of Utah. Here there exists a practical and efficient method for collecting sales tax, even though the vehicle is not sold by a regular retailer. Since it is necessary for the owner to register the vehicle, it is both practical and convenient to collect the tax at that time.

Further considerations also make it apparent that the legislature intended to impose the tax upon all vehicles subject to registration. On August 25, 1950, pursuant to Section 59-15-20, U. C. A. 1953, which confers upon the State Tax Commission the authority to administer the Sales Tax Act, the commission promulgated and published a regulation which reads as follows:

“No sale of a vehicle subject to the registration laws of this state shall be deemed an isolated or occasional sale.” (See Sales Tax Regulation 38.)

Respondent recognizes that no administrative body can by regulation supersede the will of the legislature. However, since this regulation was promulgated, the legislature of this state has had occasion to meet four times not counting special sessions. In spite of the fact that the legislature has had the Sales Tax Act brought to its attention and amended it in various places, no change has been made in the language interpreted by this regulation. It is submitted that where a law which is susceptible of interpretation has been given a particular construction by administrative regulation, and the legislature has allowed the same to stand for a period of time, it is entitled to great respect as being a true expression of the legislative purpose. *State v. Alta Club*, 120 Ut. 121, 232 P. 2d 759; *Olsen v. State Tax Commission*,

109 Ut. 563, 168 P. 2d 324; *Utah Power & Light v. Public Service Commission*, 107 Ut. 155, 152 P. 2d 542; *In re Cowan's Estate*, 98 Ut. 393, 99 P. 2d 605; *Decker v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 94 Ut. 166, 76 P. 2d 568; *Murdock v. Mabey*, 59 Ut. 346, 203 P. 651; *State Board of Land Com'rs v. Ririe*, 56 Ut. 213, 190 P. 59.

Also the Sales Tax Act itself refers in several places to vehicles subject to registration. Section 59-15-5 (U. C. A. 1953, as amended), which deals with the collection of the tax, states as follows:

"However, that on all motor vehicle sales made by other than a regular licensed dealer the tax shall be paid by the purchaser directly to the State Tax Commission upon every sale of a *motor vehicle subject to registration and licensing*, under the laws of this state, and shall be collected by the State Tax Commission at the time of such registration and licensing." (Emphasis added.)

As recently as 1957 the legislature has dealt with the Sales Tax Act. At 59-15-6, U. C. A. 1953, as amended, it exempted from sales tax certain vehicles purchased in Utah by nonresidents for use outside the state. This exemption applied to "all sales of vehicles of a *type required to be registered* under the provisions of the Motor Vehicle Laws of this state." This is but another indication that the legislature originally intended the sales tax to apply to "vehicles of the type required to be registered" and the term motor vehicles should be so construed.

All of the foregoing considerations clearly show that the term "motor vehicle" as used in the Utah Sales Tax Act

was meant to include all vehicles subject to registration in this State.

Even if the court should find that the Sales Tax Act was not necessarily intended to tax all vehicles subject to registration, still we submit that a semi-trailer is a "motor vehicle" within the contemplation of the Sales Tax Act. The semi-trailer is merely a part of the truck or unit. This unit would consist of a tractor and one or more trailers or semi-trailers. All are combined together to form the motor vehicle. The fallacy of appellant's argument becomes apparent when carried to its logical conclusion. They could just as reasonably argue that a spare tire, or the motor, or the body, or any other part of the truck is not in and of itself a "motor vehicle" and we would have to agree. However, when all these component parts are put together, the product clearly becomes a motor vehicle under any definition. It would seem that the back end is just as much a part of the truck as the front end.

Contrary to the statement made on page 16 of appellant's brief, many cases involving a variety of fact situations have held that semi-trailers or trailers are motor vehicles.

The case of *State v. Schwartzman Service, Inc.*, 40 S. W. 2d 479 (Mo. 1931) involved a conviction for the operation of a "motor vehicle" having excess gross weight. The court in stating that the intention of the legislature should prevail over the literal sense of terms, held that a semi-trailer was a motor vehicle. See also *Eddleman v. City of Brazil*, 166 N. W. 1 (Ind. 1929), which held to the same effect.

In *Department of Motor Transportation v. Trailer Convoys, Inc.*, 279 S. W. 2d 815 (Ky. 1955) it was held that semi-trailers were "motor vehicles" within a statute giving tax advantages to transportation of new motor vehicles, notwithstanding that trailers were not self propelled.

In *Prudential Insurance Co. of Great Britain v. Associated Employers, Lloyds*, 250 S. W. 2d 477 (Texas 1952) the court was called upon to construe an insurance policy which insured only accidents involving two or more motor vehicles. In an accident where a truck and semi-trailer overturned, it was held that the accident did not involve two motor vehicles, however, it was noted by the court that a trailer pulled by a motor vehicle may become part of said motor vehicle in spite of the fact that no statute provides that a trailer is a motor vehicle.

In *Fruehauf Trailer Company v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 75 S. E. 2d 688 (S. C. 1953) a trailer was held to be a "motor vehicle" under a statute providing for a lien on motor vehicles in favor of one injured or damaged through negligence or reckless operation thereof.

In *Vest v. Kramer*, 106 N. E. 2d 105 (Ohio 1955) it was held that a two-wheeled utility trailer designed for and employed in general highway transportation and attached to and operated as a unit with an automobile, which provides the motive power for the unit, is a motor vehicle within the Ohio statute.

And in *Grendreau v. State Farm Fire Insurance Co. of Bloomington*, 288 N. W. 225 (Minn. 1939) an automobile trailer was held to be a "motor vehicle" under a statute

dealing with insurance on "automobiles, motorcycles and other motor vehicles."

Even though the Motor Vehicle Act in Utah appears to exclude trailers and semi-trailers from the definition of a motor vehicle, yet the same act for some purposes treats trailers and semi-trailers as a unit with the tractor which pulls it, which clearly falls within the definition of a "motor vehicle." See, for example, Sec. 41-1-88, U. C. A. 1953, as amended which provides as follows:

"* * * provided that no such fee or any other registration fee shall be required with respect to any semi-trailer or trailer registered outside the state where it is shown to the satisfaction of the state tax commission that such semi-trailer or trailer is being pulled by a tractor * * * *which is registered within the state of Utah in conjunction with a semi-trailer* or trailer likewise registered within the state of Utah." (Emphasis added.)

It therefore appears that the Sales Tax Act when considered in its entirety clearly manifests the intention of the legislature that semi-trailers and all other vehicles of a type subject to the registration and licensing provisions of the Utah law are to be classified as motor vehicles within the meaning of the Sales Tax Act.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED
THE ACTION SINCE IT HAD NO JURISDICTION
TO HEAR THIS CASE.

The legislature in adopting the Sales Tax Act set up an administrative procedure by which unsatisfied taxpay-

ers could object to tax assessments made by the commission. The applicable statutory provisions which set up this procedure are as follows:

59-15-12. *Objection to Assessment — Petition — Hearing.* —

“If any person having made a return and paid the tax provided by this act, feels aggrieved by the assessment made upon him by the tax commission, he may apply to the tax commission by a petition in writing within 10 days after the notice is mailed to him for a hearing and a correction of the amount of tax so assessed, in which petition he shall set forth the reasons why such hearing should be granted and the amount by which such tax should be reduced. The tax commission shall notify the petitioner of the time and place fixed by it for such hearing. After such hearing, the tax commission may make such order in the matter as may appear to it just and lawful and shall furnish a copy of such order to the petitioner.”

59-15-13. *Decision of Commission, When Final.*—

“Every decision of the Tax Commission shall be in writing and notice thereof shall be made to the vendor within ten days, and all such decisions shall become final upon the expiration of 30 days after notice of such decision shall have been mailed to the vendor, unless proceedings are taken within said time for review by the Supreme Court upon writ of certiorari as herein provided, in which case it shall become final, (1) when affirmed or modified by the judgment of the supreme court; (2) if the Supreme Court remands the case to the tax commission for rehearing, when it is thereafter determined as hereinabove provided with respect to the initial proceeding.”

59-15-14. *Review by Supreme Court.* —

“Within 30 days after notice of any decision of the tax commission, any party affected thereby may apply to the Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari for review for the purpose of having the unlawfulness of such decision inquired into and determined. Such writ shall be made returnable not later than thirty days after the date of the issuance thereof, and shall direct the tax commission to certify its records, which shall include all the proceedings and the evidence taken in the case to the court. Upon the hearing, no new or additional evidence may be introduced, but the case shall be heard on the record before the tax commission as certified to by it. The decision of the tax commission may be reviewed both upon the law and fact and the provisions of the code of civil procedure of this state relating to appeals so far as applicable and not in conflict with this act apply to the proceedings in the Supreme Court under the provisions of this section.”

59-15-15. *Exclusive Jurisdiction of Supreme Court.*

“No court of this state, except the Supreme Court, shall have jurisdiction to review, reverse, or annul any decision of the tax commission or to suspend or delay the operation or execution thereof; provided, that a writ of mandamus shall lie from the Supreme Court in all proper cases.”

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